Lower Honkley Farmhouse, NPRN407458. 

The house has recently been refurbished (2009) and is all that survives of what was once a small farmstead with associated farm buildings. It retains evidence of a late-medieval cruck-frame at its north-east end. There are good details of a c1600 house of 2-units with 2-tier square-framing, which has a superior lateral fireplace to its hall. These walls were replaced in brick to provide the present late-18th century, central-entry plan, with a rear kitchen wing. This wing is stone-built and was probably added in the early-18thcentury some parts replaced later in brickwork.
 In 1845 the tithe map shows a long line of buildings (assumed farm buildings) extending to the north-east of the present house, with its fields grouped approximately in a line to the west, bordered by a drainage ditch which comes close by the house. It shows the area’s name spelled as ‘Hankley’, rather than the present Honkley. The apportionment states that it was owned by Goodwin Charles Goodwin Esquire and occupied by Joseph Williams in 1845. This land amounted to 36 acres and 24 perches which paid 4 pounds, 18 shillings and eight pence tithe. The first edition OS map of 1888 shows the same range of in-line buildings extending at the north-east end of the hall. 
The only early documentary evidence is unlocated, although in 1620 a John Santhey owned 17 acres in ‘Hunkley’ and other land, amounting to 93 acres in Burton. His father Robert Santhey held a capital messuage in Burton (A.N. Palmer, ‘A History of The Old Parish of Gresford’, in Arch. Camb. 1904, p 94-5).
Description
 Externally the house is mostly of 18th century brick construction, although some of its former, c1600, high stone plinth exists at the east corner. It has a slate roof and new brick chimneys. The windows are recently fitted, but have late-18th century openings with brick arches over.
The present ‘L’ shape house plan (see drawing) has a central-entry cross-passage alongside a c1600 framed partition which provides access to the hall, parlour and rear 18th century addition. This entry cuts through the c1600 sole-plate of the outer wall, at each side and must have been the main entry once the, 2-storey porch was added in late-18th century brick.  A possible earlier entry is suggested by the straight-joints in the brickwork flanking the present hall window, which indicates a former direct entry to the hall. This entry would be feasible if the truss-partition acted as a dais partition, with windows lighting a dais-bench area originally to an open hall. The remains of ceiling-beams that survive are probably 18th century, indicating that the floor to the hall was inserted at the same time as the brick walls.
The c1600 wall-framing details survive at the porch, which show it was built on a high stone plinth with vertical studs between horizontal wall-plate and sole-plate and short mid-rails, to form 2-tier square wattle & daub panels. The late-18th century porch interior is also built in timber-frame over the c1600 wall-plate. Mortices in the present front doorway studs may indicate a former window lighting the dais partition? A carpenter’s assembly mark to the left mortice has two inscribed half circles. Two peg holes to the face of the studs may indicate an applied window(see drawing). A smaller window may be construed at the other wall.
 The one surviving c1600 truss/dais-partition (see drawing) has principal-posts to principal-trusses with collar and an interupted tie-beam with studs forming a first-floor doorway.This doorway may be secondary. The truss has single side-purlins and a diagonal-set ridge. At ground-floor a head-beam and a sole-plate form 2-tier square-framing of wattle and daub infill and a doorway. The doorway leads to a parlour and a winding timber stair (rebuilt) which rises against the partition and outer wall with a small blocked window. One principal-truss has rebates for wind-braces indicating reuse of the timber.
The north-east gable-end cruck-truss has been removed, but fragments remain and earlier photos enable its approximate reconstruction to be made (see drawing). It has almost straight cruck blades with a tie-beam collar and saddle, all lap-jointed. There is another set of rebates for either a later lower tie-beam or spur-pieces to a wall-plate or stud. The saddle had a later timber attached to support the ridge, but as a former hall-house the space would have provided an exit for smoke from the hearth.  The top of the blades have rebates for timbers and pegs for purlins, indicating their former locations. The saddle has small stave holes in its soffit and the collar has a grove in its soffit for staves, while the two soffit mortices are probably c1600. The probable tie-beam timber has mortices for three studs (and assumed two-tier square-frameing) and fits approximately, but may again be of c1600.
Allthough its brickwork has been rebuilt the lateral hall fireplace retains its original stone jambs and timber lintel, both with double-roll mouldings and angled stop of c1600 date. An earlier photograph indicates a blocked bread oven opening in the brickwork (see plan drawing) and a possible later range behind (blocked).The hall has a single transverse ceiling-beam (old photos), a window to the south-east and a doorway in the north-east wall, to a later single story brick porch.
The kitchen’s north-west exterior wall has an arched opening either side of the projecting chimney, a wide arch now with small window to the east, and a probable blocked doorway at the west end. There is a doorway in the stone north-east wall, while the other walls have been replaced by brick. Internally there were two transverse ceiling-beams (old photos) and a king-post truss at first-floor (now modern). The adjacent field is known as ‘bake-house croft’ on the tithe map and may indicate a former bread oven was sited in the wide arch at the gable-end.
The parlour is unheated, has a wide end window and a small south-east window opening and must have once had a ceiling-beam. There is a doorway to a lean-to pantry with window at the north-west, and a blocked doorway from pantry to the kitchen.
The first-floor roof timbers are all new, except for the c1600 dais truss-partition.
Development
1.  An early-16th century hall-house, probably of 4-5 bays on the site of the present house
2.  Conversion to a c1600 house of 2 units with open hall, lateral fireplace, central dais truss and a storied parlour end. There must have been, at least a south-west end-truss, which had beenreplaced in brick by the late-18th century. Remains of timbers outside were indicative of this type.
3. The stone kitchen wing was added in the early-18th century and its gable-end altered in brick in the late-18th century with end-fireplace, doorway (blocked) and window.

4. In the late-18th century the timber-frame part was replaced in brick and the  porch and pantry added . At this time the hall ceiling-beam and first-floor were inserted, and a lateral fireplace made for the chamber over the hall. At this time the dais trus was altered by making a first-floor doorway.
5. 19th century alterations to the kitchen’s end wall include blocking of its doorway and small window. The low porch to the north-east of the hall was added when the in-line buildings were part demolished.
6. General modernisation of c2009, including rebuilding of the lateral fireplace and chimney-stacks, removal and replacement of end-cruck, most roof timbers and all floor timbers. Parts of the exterior brick walls have been repaired or replaced.
Comment

Despite being a much altered building it still retains good internal c1600 details within a late-18th century brick exterior. It might be possible, to reinstate a replica of the early-16th century cruck-truss from the surviving remnants (see reconstruction drawing).
This building was recorded at the suggestion of Wrexham planning department, Geoff Ward, 17/02/2010.

